
Regular Meeting  
Monday, February 22, 2016 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason St. 

Edenton, NC  
6:00pm 

 
This meeting was recorded, a copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled February 22, 

2016. 
 

Present: Chairman Jeff Smith, Commissioners Keith Nixon, Greg Bonner, Alex Kehayes, 
Emmett Winborne, Ellis Lawrence and John Mitchener (came in later).  
 
Staff present: County Manager Kevin Howard, County Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble and 
Clerk Susanne Stallings. 
 
Chairman Smith called the meeting to order and led the pledge. 
 
Commissioner Nixon then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
(Recording begins during this agenda item) 
 Chairman Smith noted an addition of a-3 to the closed session agenda item. 
 
Commissioner Nixon moved to amend the agenda as recommended. Chairman Smith asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0) 
 
 
Public Comment 
Chairman Smith then opened the floor to public comment. 

There was none. 

Consent Agenda 

a. Tax Refund and Releases 
Poplar Neck Fm. $913.64 Interest charge on penalty was a clerical error 
Jordan, W.  $281.24 Paid twice 
Kolikas, D.  $196.25 Paid twice 
Hall, E.  $402.57 Paid twice 
 

Commissioner Bonner moved to approve the tax releases as presented. Chairman Smith asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Commissioner Mitchener joined the meeting. 
 
Resolution to Establish a Policy for Approval and Opening of Closed Session Minutes 



Ms. Stallings provided the Board with a policy recommended by herself and counsel for the 
approval process for opening closed session minutes. She stated this policy would allow her to 
review minutes that are from closed session and recommend if they should be unsealed to the 
County Attorney. They County Attorney will then review the recommended minutes and then 
sign off. The minutes will then be forwarded to the Board of Commissioners to be unsealed. 
 
Ms. Womble explained the process by which minutes are unsealed. She stated that when the 
purpose of sealing the minutes is no longer necessary, then the minutes may be unsealed. 
 
Ms. Stallings noted that there are some circumstances (such as a personnel hearing) that the 
minutes will not be unsealed. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked how far back the minutes go. 
 
Ms. Stallings stated these minutes have been on file since 2007. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked for clarification on the resolution stating the Commissioners have 
final approval. 
 
Ms. Stallings reviewed the resolution. She stated that once the files are unsealed, she will place 
them in an easily identifiable folder so that the public could locate unsealed minutes. She stated 
that the second page with signatures did not get attached to the digital agenda packet. She stated 
she would recommend pulling the item from consideration to allow staff to bring back the final 
version. 
 
Commissioner Mitchener moved to table the matter. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Annual Report Planning 
Planner Elizabeth Bryant provided the Board with the annual activity report from the Planning 
Department and an update on Code Enforcement activities. A copy of the report is in the meeting 
file labeled February 22, 2016. Ms. Bryant discussed the grant for abandoned mobile home 
removal and noted it is in the final stages for approvals. 
 
Commissioner Nixon discussed Code Enforcement within the 1 mile ETJ of the Town of 
Edenton. He asked that staff clarify who is responsible for Code Enforcement in this area.  He 
stated he hoped that the funds from the abandoned mobile home grant would be used for private 
home owner’s not mobile home park owners. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated the grant is intended to be used for those who otherwise cannot afford the 
removal of the property. 
 
Chairman Smith asked if the grant monies were for the County only. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated the grants would be for 1 or 2 properties in the Town also. 
 



Commissioner Michener asked for clarification on the cleanup of properties in the ETJ area. 
 
Ms. Arizaga-Womble stated she believes the ETJ Code Enforcement is under the Town. 
 
Commissioner Winborne thanked the Planning Department for their efforts. He asked if the 
funding in the budget was helpful. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated the Code Enforcement monies are very much appreciated. 
 
Commissioner Winborne asked for clarification on the licensing of contractors for clean-up 
work. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated she would look into making sure the Planning Department follows this policy. 
 
Commissioner Michener asked if the funding was adequate. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated that additional monies may be needed for postage or advertisement. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked for clarification on the Certificate of Occupancy regulations for 
dwellings. 
 
Ms. Bryant recommended that these questions be answered by the Building Inspectors. 
 
The discussion on Code Enforcement in the EJT is continued below after the LUP update 
discussion. 
 
Land Use Plan Update 
Ms. Bryant stated that CAMA has recently announced the opening of Grant Funding for its 
Planning & Management Grants for FY16-17.  The maximum grant amount is $15,000 with a 
10% (half cash, half in-kind) match for Tier 1 Counties.  County staff would seek permission to 
apply for the 2016-17 CAMA Grant for the maximum allowable amount.  This would be a joint 
application between Chowan County and the Town of Edenton for an update to our existing 
2008 Edenton-Chowan County Land Use Plan. She stated the LUP is a plan that shows what the 
Commissioners want to see. She stated the 08 plan was written at the height of the economy and 
she stated the goals may need to be readjusted. 
 
Commissioner Michener asked if Sea Level Rise will be addressed in the plan. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated that CAMA will set the coastal regulations. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if the monies are 100%. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated that the maximum grant amount is $15,000 with a 10% (half cash, half in-
kind) match for Tier 1 Counties. She stated the joint cost (to be split with the Town of Edenton 
should be around $1,500. 
 



Commissioner Kehayes asked if CAMA makes all the rules. 
 
Ms. Bryant stated that some coastal counties have the resources to write their own land use plan 
however the County will still have to follow CAMA regulations for wind zones, and flood maps. 
 
Commissioner Winborne moved to approve staff to apply for the CAMA funds for a Land Use 
Plan update. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Code Enforcement in the ETJ 
 
Mr. Howard stated, regarding the Town’s authority over Code Enforcement belongs to the Town 
since their zoning regulations govern that area. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated his concern over the regulations over the ETJ area without 
representation on the Town Boards. 
 
Commissioner Bonner stated he felt the ETJ residents are well represented. 
 
External Board/Committee Report 
Commissioner Bonner reported on the Recreation Advisory Board. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence reported on the COA Board. He encouraged the Board members that 
are studying the former DF Walker High School building and COA campus to meet with the 
president and discuss the future of the campus. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked if the COA Board has finished their feasibility study. 
 
Mr. Lawrence stated it is being reviewed. 
 
Commissioner Nixon asked that staff email COA to request that the Board or staff be added to 
the COA Boards and Committees meeting notification list.  

 
Discussion of 2016 Meeting Schedule 
Commissioner Nixon stated that he has asked the Board to discuss an amendment to the 2016 
meeting schedule to include work sessions. He stated the Board used to have mid-month work 
sessions in the day and decided the meeting should be moved to evenings to allow more public 
participation. He stated he felt this would allow the Commissioners more time to prepare for a 
vote on matters and to allow the press time to cover an item so that the public may comment. He 
stated that he felt discussing a matter at a work session and then at a regular meeting would allow 
the Board to streamline an agenda. 
 
Commissioner Bonner asked if the public would have comment at a work session. 
 
Ms. Arizaga-Womble noted the statutes require 30 minutes one time per month. 
 



Commissioner Nixon stated that he has had a member of the public request time to comment at 
the end of the meeting.  
 
Commissioner Bonner asked if matters that need attention at a work session would not be voted 
on at that time. He stated that he recalled that matters that needed attention were voted on at the 
work sessions and that was why the second meeting was changed to a regular meeting. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that he has concerns over voting on matters the first time they are 
heard. HE stated that if a matter is pressing a special meeting could be advertised. 
 
Commissioner Michener asked if these are financial meetings. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated this is separate from budget meetings. HE stated that the mid-month 
meeting would be a work session to send matters to the regular meeting. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked if reports would be sent to the regular meetings. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that reports would be at the regular meeting. 
 
Mr. Howard noted that all meetings are open to the public. 
 
Commissioner Winborne stated that the Board adopted the meeting schedule at the December 
meeting and asked what has changed to amend the schedule now in February. He stated he did 
not see the urgency to change the meeting schedule. He stated if the Board did not want to vote 
on a matter it can be tabled. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he was only looking for efficiency. He gave the playground 
equipment at the Community Center as an example of needing more time to discuss a matter. He 
stated salary increases for a department were voted on in 15 minutes. He stated that his concern 
is for future boards. HE stated this is not urgent but wanted to bring it up for discussion. 
 
Commissioner Bonner stated he understood the need to hash out matters that need more 
discussion. He stated he is concerned that rolling over matters to another agenda would make 
meetings longer. 
 
Chairman Smith noted that some Boards schedule old business and new business to address 
matters in a more streamlined way. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes stated that the meeting schedule is a good topic for a retreat. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated he did not mind tabling the discussion. 
 
Chairman Smith recommended tabling the discussion. 
 
Commissioner Nixon stated that he did not feel the discussion should be added to another 
meeting agenda since there is no motion. 



 
No action was taken. 

 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard updated the Board on the following matters: 

 
- RFP for Audit Contract 

Mr. Howard stated he would like direction as to whether or not he should send out an 
RFP for an auditor or inquire on renewing the audit contract for one more year. 
 
Board members indicated that they would like to renew the contract for one year 
while the finance officer position is vacant. 
 
MR. Howard stated he would contact the auditor to renew the contract and bring back 
a recommendation. 
 

- Breakdown of Fund Balance 
Mr. Howard provided the Board with a breakdown of the available versus restricted 
fund balance as noted in the 2014-15 audit.  He noted the audit shows a fund balance 
of $6,946,769. His breakdown of the fund shows what monies are non-spendable or 
designated monies and the debt service monies. He stated this leaves an actual 
available fund balance of $4,415,197.02 or .2655% available fund balance.  
 

- NCACC Legislative Meetings 
Mr. Howard noted the NCACC has mailed out packets for legislative meetings.  He 
noted these meetings are a time for counties to provide the NCACC agenda to 
representatives.  
 
There was discussion on the types of meetings and no action was taken on the 
NCACC legislative meetings packet. 
 

- Discussion of Retreat 
Mr. Howard stated he would like to schedule a retreat and invite the NCACC to come 
and moderate. He and the Clerk will get it scheduled for the end of March or first part 
of April. 

 
Timely and Important Matters  
 

Post-Employment Benefits 

Commissioner Nixon stated he would like for the Board to consider post-employment benefits 
for retirees. He stated a change in the policy he felt should only apply to new hires. He stated that 
the County’s liability increases each year in the audit but noted it was a slight decrease for the 
last fiscal year. He stated the monies cannot be invested and that health insurance has gone up. 
He suggested the discussion be added to the next agenda.  



 

MR. Howard stated the Albemarle Commission recently discussed this and he knows that 
Camden has made a change. He stated Currituck County is also discussing it. 

Shepard Building  

Commissioner Michener asked about the status of the Shepard Building. 

Mr. Howard stated he is waiting on a bid for the exterior and he hoped to start work soon. He 
stated the goal was to start the work by April. 

Closed Session 

Commissioner Bonner moved to go into closed session in accordance with NCGS143-318.11.a.5 
and 3 contract negotiations and attorney client privilege. 

Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0) 

The minutes of Nixon moved to come out of closed session. Chairman Smith asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

Adjourn 

Commissioner Nixon moved to adjourn the meeting. Chairman Smith asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0).  

 

 

_____________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Jeffery Smith, Chairman    Susanne Stallings, Clerk 


